ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Circuit Court erred in finding that the mineral owner's (or its lessce"s) right to make 

reasonable usc of the surface 10 develop the minerals did not include the right to reasonabl y use a 

tract of surface land in order to ex plore for and produce minerals conjointly from below that tract 

and neighboring mineral tracts. Because the Circuit Court incorrectly found that the mineral 

owner did not have this right, it incorrectly found EQT Production Company liab le for both 

trespass and unj ust enrichment. 

STATEMENT OFTHE CASE 

The Circuit Court incorrect ly found that EQT Production Company ("EQT') had 

trespassed on the property of Margot Beth Crowder and David Wentz ("Crowder/Wentz"). and 

in doing so had unjustly enriched itself. 

I. Fa..:(ual B~'..:kgroulld. 

Joseph L. Carr owned both the surface of, and the minerals below, a 351 acre tract in 

Doddridge County (the "Carr Property"). See Appx. 4. In 1901 Carr leased the minerals below 

the surface of the Carr Property (the "Lease"), providing EQrs predecessor-in-interest the Carr 

Property for the "purpose of mining and opening for oil and gas, and of laying pipe lines, and of 

building tanks, stations, and structures thereon to take care of the said products .... " Appx.76. 

There is no dispute in thi s case that the Lease remains in force and effect. The Lease therefore 

express ly pennitted surface activity; it did not limit it in any way. See id. In 1936 the fee 

owners or the Carr Propert y conveyed "the surface on ly" of the Property, severing the mineral 

interest from the surface interest. See Appx. 80. This narrow grant likewise did not limit the 

activity the mi nera l owner cou ld take on the surface. See id. In 1975, Crowder/Wentz purchased 

"the su rface only" of nearl y all of the Carr Property (the " Property"). See Appx. 7. The Property 



- all of which is subject to the Lease - is com prised of three different tracts. See id. Although 

married when they purchased it , Crowder and Wentz have since di vorced. Appx.7-8. Wentz 

now owns 2 tracts, and Crowder owns I . See id. 

In 2011 the current-day lessors under the Lease entered into an Amendment and 

Ratification of Oil and Gas Lease (the "Amend ment") that acknowledged EQT's ri ght to poo l 

and/or unitize the Lease wit h other lands. I See Appx. 8. EQT then unit ized the Lease wit h 

other, neigb borin g tracts, and drilled nine hori zontal wells from a wel lpad on the surface of the 

Property. See Appx. ISO. These ni ne horizontal wellbores are in four different product ion units, 

and the Lease is a part of each unil. 2 Appx. 150-1 51. Approximately 37.5% of the horizontal 

weJlbores dri lled from the Property run directly underneath the Lease; the rema inder run beneath 

the other leases with which the Lease is unitized. Appx. lSI. This is no' a case about the 

Property being used solely for the benefit of neighboring mineral tracts; the Lease benefits from 

thi s producti on more than any other lease with which it is unitized. See above, n.3 . 

II . Procedural Background. 

The Complaint was filed on November 26, 2014. See Appx. I. Crowder/Wentz brought 

six claims. First, a trespass cla im that using the surface of the Property to develop the minerals 

beneath that surface in conjunction with the development of neighboring properties - i.e. , 

1 Unitization "refers to the combi nat ion of most, if not all, of the separate tracts in the field into one tract 
so that the reservoi r may be operated without regard to surface boundary lines." Patrick H. Martin and 
Bruce M. Kramer, Williams & Meyers, Oil and Gas Law § 901 (20 14). This Court described unitization, 
pooling, and any di ffe rences - or simi larities - at length in Casfar E:.:piorarion. fllc. v. Conlragllerro, 239 
W. Va. 305, 800 S.E.2d 891 , 893 0.1 (2017). 

2 Of the other five leases with which the Lease has been pooled, each only participates in - and thus only 
receives the benefit of - two uni ts. Additionally, the Lease has the highest interest in the nine wells of 
any other lease with which it is un itized. In the South # 1 Uni t, the Lease comprises roughly 47.5% of the 
unit. In the South # 2 Unit, the lease comprises roughly 40% of the unit, with two other leases, each with 
a smaller interest, comprising the rest. In the Nort h # I Unilthe Lease comprises roughly 19.5% of the 
unit , and in the North #2 Un it the Lease comprises 21 .5% of the Unit, with only one other lease having a 
signi fi cantly larger interest in that unit. See Appx. 151. 
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running horizontal we llborcs nOI only beneath the Lease but also across (subterranean) property 

lines and beneath other properties leased to EQT - was a trespass . See Appx. 17-21 . Second, 

Crowder/Wentz brough t another trespass claim. a lleging that the usc of the Property for any kind 

of modern drilling was impermiss ible, because it was not contemplated by the part ies to either 

the Lease or the severance of the Carr Property. See Appx. 21-22. This second trespass claim 

was voluntarily non-suited by Crowder/Wentz, and is not at issue in thi s appeal. See Appx. 287. 

Th ird , Crowder/Wentz brought a claim for unjust enrichment. See Appx. 22-23. The final 

claims in the Complaint were for "Annoyance and Inconvenience;' " Reasonable Anomey"s Fees 

and Costs;' and " Puni tive Damages:' See Appx. 23·24. 

The Circu it Coun granted Crowder/Wentz's Motion fo r Summary Judgment regarding 

the first (and only remaining) trespass claim. See Appx . 244·260. While there is no di spute in 

thi s case that EQT can use the surface o f the Property to develop minerals from the Lease, see 

Appx. 249; 65 , the Pla intiffs argued that it was improper for EQT to use the surface o f the 

Property to deve lop minerals conjointl y from both the Lease and other leases with which the 

Lease was uniti zed. See, e.g., Appx. 249. The Circuit Coun posited that in response to this 

"since there is no poo ling agreement in the origina l lease, EQT relics heavily on a pool ing 

amendment executed by subsequent owners of the underlying minera l tracts after severance of 

the minera ls from the su rface:' fd. The lower cou rt found that " thi s pooling amendment is not 

valid as to the use of their surface and cannot, as a matter of law, prov ide EQT the right to use 

their surface to drill into, and produce gas from, neighboring mineral tracts:' Id. The Circuit 

Court reasoned that th is was because "[ alt the time of the severance, the mineral owners did not 

obta in the right to use the surface tract for exploration and product ion from neighboring mineral 

tracts .... " Id. Ultimately, the Court therefore found that " EQT did not obtain the right to use 
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Plaint iffs ' surface lands to drill well bores into neighboring tracts from Pla intiffs, and it did not 

obta in the righ t through a subsequent ' pooling amendment ' signed by mineral owners (since 

such owners never had those rights to give)"" See Appx. 250. Relying entirely on its finding or a 

trespass in this regard , the C ircuit Court al so granted Crowder/ Wentz 's Mot ion for Summary 

Judgment regardi ng thei r unj ust enrichment claim. See Appx. 293. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

It is black letter law in West Virginia and throughout the coun try that the minera l estate is 

the dominant estate and the surface estate is servient. As a resu lt, it is undi sputed that - absent 

express limiting language, which no pa rty argues is present here - the mineral owner (or its 

lessee) can make any use of the surface that is " reasonabl y necessary" to develop the minera ls. 

The only relevant question regarding what rights a lessee like EQT has on the surface, the refore, 

is whet her the use of the surface to develop the minera ls below the property conjo intly wit h 

mincrals in ne ighboring tracts is " reasonably necessary:' The Circu it Court never answered this 

quest ion, and in fa il ing to do so com mined reversible error. Had the lowe r court answered the 

question, the undisputed facts clearly showed that thi s use was " reasonab ly neccssary" and 

therefore penn issib le. It was Crowder/ Wentz' s burden to show otherwise and they did not. 

This conclusion comports with West Virgin ia' s public po licy of encouraging the 

development of as much oil and gas as possible, as efficiently as possible. The conclusion is also 

accepted throughout the coun try, and is not changed by the laws regarding the transportat ion of 

coa l, a resource whose phys ica l differences from nalural gas make the compariso n inapplicab le. 

This kind ofmuhi- Iease development is reasonably necessary, and canno\ - and does not 

const ilUte either trespass or unjust cnrichment. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

This case is proper for oral argument under W. V. R. App. r. 18(a). The parties ha ve not 

waived argument , the appeal is not frivo lous, at least one of the di spositi ve issues has not been 

authoritatively decided, and the deci sional process would be sign ificantly aided by oral 

argu ment. Oral argument should be heard pursuant to W. V. R. App. P. 20(a). The case 

invo lves an issue of first im pression, which is al so one o f fundamental public importance) 

ARGUMENT 

When reviewi ng a Circu it Court ' s entry of summary judgment, thi s Court 's "review is 

plenary: " Jane Doe·/ v. CO/po of President o/the Church oj Jesus Chrisl of Latrer.day Saints, 

239 W. Va. 428, 801 S.E.2d 443, 457 (20 17) (quoting SyJ. PI. I , Pai"'e,. v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 

189,45 1 S.E.2d 755 (1994) for the stateme nt that " laJ circuit court 's entry of summary judgment 

is reviewed de 110VO"0). "Moreover, although findirlgs of facI arc gt":l1t:rally reviewed under a 

clearly erroneous standard, 'ostensible findings of fact. which entai l the appl ication of law or 

constitute lega l judgments which transcend ordinary factual detenn inations,' are also reviewed 

de 110VO'" Gastar, 800 S.E.2d at 898 (quoting Syl. PI. 1: in part , State ex rei. Cooper v. 

Capteron, 196 W. Va. 208, 470 S.E.2d 162 ( 1996)). This Court 's plenary review should be 

exercised here to make clear that EQrs behav ior constitUied neither a trespass nor unjust 

en richment. 

3 EQT does not request add itional time beyond the 20 mi nutes per side permitted under W. V. R. App. P. 
20(,). 
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I. West Virgin ia Law Allows the Mineral Owner to Take All Actions 011 the Surface of 
the Property That are Reasonably Necessary to De\'clol} the Min era ls, Including 
Pooling a nd the Concomitant Burdening of the Surface. 

It is black lenef West Virginia law tha t the mineral estate is dominant, and absent express 

limiting language which is not present here the mineral estate owner - or it s lessee - can take all 

actions on the surface that are reasonabl y necessary to deve lop the minera ls. This proposition 

means Ihat, if reasonab ly necessary for the deve lopment orthe minerals, the righllo pool the 

property - and to impact the surface accordingly - is a right that remains with the minera l owner 

regardl ess of a conveyance of the surface. 

A. Parties Can Contract to Limit thc Use of the Surface, Bu l T hat Did Not 
Occur Berc. 

If the parties to an oi l and gas lease, or a severance deed, wish to li mit the use of the 

surface of a property pu rsuant to either of those instrumen ts, they can do so. See, e.g. , Syl. By 

the Court, Watson v. Buckhannon River Coal Co., 95 W. Va. 164, 120 S.E. 390 (1923) ("The 

writing is the repository of what the part ies mea nt ... .'"). That did not occur herc. The Lease 

grants EQT's predecessor.in·interest the Property for "mining and opening for oil and gas, and 

of laying pipe lines, and of building tanks, stations and struClU res thereon; to take care of the said 

products ... :. Appx.76. There is no limitation whatsoever placed on the use o f the surface. 

See id. Similarl y, the deed prov id ing the surface to Crowder/Wentz' s predecessors·in· interest 

provided "the surface only .... " Appx.80. There is no limitat ion whatsoever placed on the use 

of the surface. See id. While the parties could have chosen to limit the mineral interest owner's 

righ ts to use the surface. here no such limitation was made. See. e.g., Faith United Methodist 

Church & CemetelY a/Terra Alta v. Morgan, 23 1 W. Va. 423, 444, 745 S.E.2d 46 1, 482 (20 \3) 

(in terpret ing a deed which, like the deed here, granted "the surface onl y" and finding that " the 

use of the word 'only' in the 1907 deed to qualify the word 'surface' in th at sense means solely 
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or the eq ui valen t of the phrase and nOlhillg else. [The grantor] chose the words 'surface on ly' as 

the subject of conveyance to mean nOlhing more than the sUI/ace, and to retain alllhc remainder 

of the property,") (quotations omitted, emphasis added). 

B. The '''Reasonably Necessary" Doctrine is Well-Established West Virginia 
Law. 

Absent any relevant contracluallanguage limiting the use of the surface - which is not 

present here - a mineral owner has the implied ri ght " 10 use the surface in such manner and with 

such means as would be fairly necessary for the enjoyment of the mineral estate:' Syl. Pt. I, 

Adkins v. Uniled Fuel Gos Co., 134 W. Va. 719, 61 S.E.2d 633 ( 1950)(citalions omitted). See 

also Whifeman v. Chesapeake Appalachia, LLC, 729 F.3d 381 ,388 (41h Ci r. 20 13)(the minera l 

owner has the right to do whal is necessary fo r the "reasonably profitable enjoyment" of its 

property in the mineral s) (citat ions omitted). "IT] he general, common law rule in West Virginia 

is that a mineral owner or develope r" can "do that which is ' fa irly necessary' or ' reasonably 

necessary' forthe extraction of the mineral.'· ThornsbUlJ'v. Cabot Oil & Gas COIp., 23 1 W. Va. 

676, 681,749 S.E.2d 569, 574 (20 13). See also id. (quoting and discussing, fo r the same 

propos it ion, Porter II. Mack Mfg. Co., 65 W. Va. 636, 64 S.E.2d 853 ( 1909); BufJalo Minil1g Co. 

II. Martin, 165 W. Va. 10, 267 S.E.2d 721 (1980); Whiteman; Faith United; CoffindafJer II. Hope 

NO/ural Gas, 74 W. Va. 107,8 1 S.E. 966 (1914)). This concept of black letter law is not 

disputed in this case. See, e.g., Appx. 249 ("PlaintiITs do not dispute that the owner of the 

mineral tract underlying their property has the implied righ t to ' reasonable usc' of their surface 

lands .... "); Appx. 65 (Crowder/Wentz recognizing that "ftlhe ' fairly necessary' or ' reasonabl y 

necessary' doctrine of mineral law implies, in favor of the mineral owner, a surface right to 

access the reserved minerals via means that arc fairly necessary."). 
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C. T he C ircuit Court Fa iled to Examin e Whether or Not T he Right to Pool 
and Burden the Surface Acco rdingly - is Reasonably Necessa ry to Develop 
the Minerals. 

It is undisputed that a mineral owner can take wha tever action on the surface is 

" reasonabl y necessary" 10 extract the mineral owner's minera ls. See above, Argument § I.A. 

Here, neither the Lease nor the deed severing the surface of the Carr Property contained any 

language alteri ng th is common law rulc. See above, Statement of the Case § I. Therefore, the 

starting point in any conflict between a mineral owner (or the mineral owner's lessee) and a 

surface owner is whether the act ivity at issue was reasonably necessary to extract the mineral 

owner's minerals. If the action was reasonably necessa ry for extraction. the mineral owner had 

the right to take the action , regardless of whether or not the mineral owner owns the surface. If 

the action was not reasonab ly necessary for extract ion , Ihe minera l owner docs not have the right 

to take the action over the objection of the surface owner. The Circuit Court erred because it 

decided the mineral owner did not ha ve the right to burden the surface without ever deciding 

whether or nOI that burden was "reasonably necessary." The Circuit Court did not conduct the 

requisite analysis. 

The Ci rcui t Court held that after the Carr Property was severed " the mineral owners did 

not obtain the right to use the surface tract for exp loration and production from neighboring 

mineral tracts, and certa inl y did not obtain the ri ght to place extra burden on the su rface to do so. 

Any such righl remained with the severed lands .. ' Appx.250. The prob lem with th is ana lys is is 

that it skips the rcquired first step. In a severance, the mineral owner retains all rights to use the 

surface as " reasonably necessary," bu t the Circuit Court made its deci sion without first analyzing 

if the use was " reasonably necessary." See, e.g .. Appx. 250 ("[TJhe reasonab le use doctrine 

relied upon by EQT on ly becomes relevan t if the right to use the surface to bore into neighboring 
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tracts was legally obtai ned or reserved in the first place."). The Circu it Court im properl y 

adopted Crowder/Wentz' s argu ments on this po int in full. See, e.g., Appx. 2 12 (Crowder/Wentz 

arguing that "the reasonable use doctrine onl y becomes relevant if the right to usc the surface to 

bore into ne ighbo ring tracts was lega ll y obtained or reserved in the firs t place:"). As a result of 

this improper analysis, the Circuit Court held that "because the mi nera l owners no longer owned 

the right to use the surface lands for exploration and production from neighboring tracts, they 

cou ld not have given Ihal right to EQT in the subsequent poo ling amendment.'· Appx.250. 

The Circu it Court held that a severance must expressly reserve the right of mu lti· lease 

development, othc(V.';se that right is transferred with the surface. See, e.g., App. 250 ("[T]he 

reasonab le use doctrine rel ied upon by EQT on ly becomes relevant if the right to use the surface 

to bore into ne ighboring tracts was legally obtained or reserved in the firsl instance:"). This is 

error. There is no question that the mineral owner always has the right to burden the surface as 

reasonably necessary, and there is no canon of law requiring an owner of a right to expressly list 

all rights that owner is preservil1g when transferri ng other rights. The mineral owner has the 

righ t to burden the surface as reasonably necessary to develop the minerals and unl ess the 

mineral owner grants that right to the surface owner along with the surface, it remains with the 

mineral owner. See Faith United, 23 1 W. Va. at 444, 745 S.E.2d at 482 (i nterpreting a deed 

which granted "the surface only'· and fi nd ing that the grantor "chose the words 'surface only' as 

the subject of conveyance to mean nothing more Ihan /he sUljace, and to retain alil he remainder 

of the propert y.'") (em phasis added). 

The Circuit Court reaso ned that by conveying the surface the mineral owner lost the right 

to al low the usc of the surface fo r mult i·lease deve lopment. The Circu it Court then dec ided that 

because the mineral owner d idn ' t have this right, the " reasonably necessary·· ana lys is was 
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unnecessary. Th is is the wro ng order in which to have conducted the ana lysis; whether or not the 

mineral owner had the right depends on Ihe ourcome oflhe reasonably necesso,y analysis. There 

is no dispute that the minera l owner has the right to do whatever is "reasonably necessary" to 

extract its minerals, and in so doing burden the surface. Therefore, if pooling the minerals to 

develop them conjo intly with adjoining tracts, and in so doing burdening the surface, was 

"reasonably necessary" to ext ract the mineral s, then the minera l owner did retai n thi s right. 

Because the Circuit Cou rt did not undertake that analysis, it erred and must be reversed. 

D. The On ly Evidence Offered Below Showed Pooling was Reasonably 
Necessary. 

It was Crowder/Wentz's burden in the Circuit Court to show that EQT's use of the 

Crowder/Wcntz Property was not reasonabl y necessary. See, e.g., Whilemal1, 729 F.3d at 391 -92 

(4th Cir. 20 13) (under West Virginia law, the bu rden is upon the surface owner claiming trespass 

to prove the mineral owner's use of the surface is not reasonab ly necessary - " the burden to 

prove unauthorized ent ry or use in trespass is on the plaintiffO).4 Crowder/Wentz failed 

completely to carry this burden. 

There is no question that Crowder/Wentz's Memorandum of Law in Support of their 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment discusses the act ivity EQT took on th e surface . See 

Appx.70-74. Further, in ccrtain places Crowder/Wentz even compare the surface activity taken 

by EQT to drill horizontal well bores wit h the surface act ivity taken when vert ical wells were 

drilled . See id. What Crowder/Wentz do not prov ide, however - and the reason they failed to 

carry the ir burden - is any evidence regarding whet her or not the burden EQT placed on thc

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