No. 17-0968 

In the 

Supreme Court of Appeals 
of West Virginia 

Margoi Beth Crowder and David Wentz, Plaintiffs Below, Responde[!l £ COPy 
v. 

EQT Production Company, Defendant Below, Petitioner 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS 

On Appeal from Civi l Action No. 14-C-64 
Circuit Court of Doddridge County 

West Virginia 

David L. Grubb (State Bar 1498) 
dgrubb@grubblawgroup.com 

DO IVor 
FROAA~EMOVE 

IV/ rILE 

Kristina Thomas Whiteaker (State Bar 9434) 
kwhiteaker@grubblawgroup.com 
THE GRUBB LA W GROUP 
111 4 Kanawha Boulevard. East 
Charleston, WV 25301 
(304)345-3356 (telcphone) 
(304)345-3355 (facsimile) 

David McMahon (State Bar 2490) 
wvdavid@wvdavid.net 
1624 Kenwood Road

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

once again recognized with passage of the "Co~tenancy Modcrnization and Majority Protection 

Act " Specifically. while the new law is designed to foster and encourage natural gas production, 

it also declarcs that the public policy of the state is, inter alia, to "(s]afeguard, protect and 

enforce the rights of surface owners[.)" W. Va. Code 37B-I-2 (20 18). In this regard, the starute 

implements this key policy by requiring a surface landowner' s consent prior to use of the surface: 

When any Iract of minera l property where an interest in the oi l or natural gas in place is 
owned by a nonconsen ting cotenant is used or developed pursuant to §378-1-4 of this 
code, in 110 event shall drilling be initiated upon, or other surface disturbance occur, 
without the surface oWller's consent regardless of whether such sUrface owner 
possesses any actual ownership in the mineral interest: Provided, That this subsection 
shall not require surface owner consent for tracts on which surface disturbance does not 
occur or tracts othen-vise subject to an exist ing surface use agreement, oil and gas lease 
which includes surface usc ri gh ts, or other va lid contractual arrangement in which the 
owner has granted rights to th e operator to usc the surface for horizontal drilling or any 
other use for which this artic le is used. 

W.Va. Code § 37B- I-6(a) (2018). (Emphasis added.) Therefore, there is no sense in which the 

current public policy of this State favors development of oil and gas resources over surface uses 

- i.e., both must coexist. 

This is not to suggest that development of our natural resources is unimportant or that 

horizontal well technology is unifonnly de leterious. In fact , as Petitioner points out, the West 

Virginia Surface Owners' Rights Organization ("SORO"), a non-profit organization devoted to 

protecting the rights of surface landowners, touts the potential benefits of horizontal drill ing. 

(Pet 'r' s Sf. 21.) However, as it did below, Petitioner oddly (and conveniently) omits the 

following crucial language from the SORO website: 

The bad thing about horizontal drill ing is that, while there is less total surface 
damage, it is all concentrated on one surface owner. WVSORO believes that the 
law does not penn it drillers to do that withom obtaining pennission (in writing) 
from that one surface owner, whether the surface owner does or does not own the 
minerals .... And if the surface owner does agree to allow the centralized pad to 
be drilled on their land, then the surface owner should insist on cnvirolUnental and 
surface protections that other drillers have agreed to, in particular a liner covering 
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the pad should be used so that spills do not leach down into groundwater. And 
surface owners, particularly those who do not own the minerals and so will not be 
gening any royal ty, should be compensated for the use of their surface based not 
on what the surface was worth to them before the driller showed up. but based on 
what the use of their surface is worth to the driller! It costs $3 to $7 Million to 
drill each well on a pad, and they are dri lli ng multiple wells. If you are a surface 
owner who also owns the minerals and wi ll be gett ing royalty, you should ask for 
$25,000 per well. That is only 811 OOths to 411 OOths of I % of the cost of dri lli ng 
each well. !fyou do not own the minerals, and if you want 10 let them drill , and if 
you get paid less than that , you are being played. Unfortunatel y you wi ll probably 
have to hire a lawyer to get that because the State wi ll grant them thei r permit if it 
has the environmental protections the State wants, and leave it to you to protect 
your surface ownership ri ghts. 

(l .A.206.) 

In this context , the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has previously stated, albeit 

in dicta , that the implied right does not extend to use of the surface for neighboring lands. In 

King v. South Penn Oil Co., 110 W. Va. 107, 157 S.E. 82 ( 193 1), the Court addressed implied 

rights in an oil and gas case. At the time the surface was severed from the minerals, the tract 

consisted of 4,000 acres in Roane and Clay counties. The minera l owner reserved the right to usc 

the surface for ingress, egress, and production of the minerals. The Court held that even if the 

surface was subsequently subdivided, the mineral owner could usc any of it to produce oil and 

gas. The Court affirmed the impl ied right of the mineral owner to use the surface "in such 

manner and with such means as wou ld be fa irly necessary for the enjoyment of the mineral 

estate." Id. at 107, 157 S.E. at 84 (citingSqllires, 95 W. Va. 307, 121 S.E. 90 (1924». However, 

the Court then stressed: "True, the rule quoted applies to the mining and production of minerals 

from a given Iract of land , and does not contemplate the use of such tract in connection with the 

production of minerals from another and different tractr.f' ld. (Emphasis added.) 

Not surprisingly, Petitioner fai ls to dist inguish, or even mention, th is Court 's language in 

King. Instead, EQT now relies heavily on an unpublished case of limited persuasive authority. 

" 



The case is American Energy.Marcellus, LLC v. Mary Jean Templeton Poling, No. 15·C·43 H 

(Cir. Ct. Tyler Co. Apr. 15, 2016), in which the Tyler County Circuit Court addressed an 1894 

lease that was held by production but which was silent on the subject of poo li ng. After several 

mineral owners refused to sign poo li ng amendments, American Energy.Maree lius LLC 

("American Energy," now known as Ascent Resources·Marce ll us, LLC) filed a declaratory 

judgment action. The circuit court ruled that "there is an implied right to pool or uni tize the oil 

and gas lease at issue in this matter with other mineral and leasehold interests for the purpose of 

developing oil and gas." Id. at 2. It is worth not ing that the Tyler County Circuit Court's ruli ng 

is of no greater precedent ial authority than the Doddridge County Ci rcuit Court" s ruling in this 

case. Moreover, American Energy·Marcellus is inapposite for several reasons. First, the case 

involved a dispute between mineral owners and their lessee. As such, it did not involve the 

rights of surface land owners (who were not part ies to the litigat ion). Second, like Pet itioner 

here, the circuit court noted that horizonta l drilling is reasonably necessary to produce oil and gas 

from the shale fonnat ions. However, and again, this ana lysis misses the point: here, Petitioner 

never had any right - implied or otherwise - to use Respondents' surface to drill horizontal well s 

into neighboring tracts. And the fact that it may not be economical to produce oil and gas from 

one parcel without also drilling into neighboring parcels does not, and should not, extend the 

mineral owner's (or lessee's) ri ght to burden the surface for ofT·parcel minerals (absent an 

express agreement to do so). See Taryn Phaneuf, Professor Says Judge's Opinion on Implied 

Pooling Righls Marks Departure f rom Slale Oil and Gas Law, West Vi rginia Record, al 

htl ps :llwvrecord. com/sto ri es/ 5 I 099069 8·pro fessor ·sa ys· j ud ge-s·opi n i on ·on -imp I i cd· pool i ng

rights·marks·departure·from·state·oi l·and·gas·law (Aug. I I, 20 16). 
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4. General Treatises on ' "Oil and Gas Law and Other Academic 
Authorities Also Agree with the Circuit Court's Analysis. 

A chorus of general treatises on oil and gas law concur with the circuit court's ana lysis. 

The most thorough of the treatises addresses the subject in some detail : 

The usual express easements and implied surface easements of a mineral owner or 
lessee are li mited to such surface use as is reasonably necessary for exploration, 
development and production Oil the premises described in the deed or lease. Of 
course the instrument may expressly grant easements in connection with 
operations on other premises .... Absellf such express provision, clearly the use 
of the surface by a milleral oWller or lessee in connection with operation 011 

other premises (that were not part of the surface at the time the ownership of the 
minerals was separated from the ownership of the surface if the ownership has 
been separated, or if the ownership has not been separated, at the time the lease 
was signed] cOllstitutes all excessive use of his surface easemellts ... The 
consensus is that such veto power exists, although there is linle case authority on 
the maner. The reason for the dearth of Stich authority is that such veto power 
appears generally assumed . ... In § 218.4, supra, we indicated our concl usion 
on the basis of available case authority that unless the deed or lease authori zed use 
of the surface in connection with operat ions on other premises, the surface owner 
may prevent the use of the surface for a well location [to produce gas from 
other premises1 . . .. 

HOWARD R. WILLIAMS & CHARLES J. MEYERS, OIL AND GAS LA W, § 218.4, at 2 11 -12 (Patrick H. 

Martin & Bruce M. Kramer cds., 1998) ("Conduct of Operator Injurious to Others,,).4 (Emphasis 

added.) 

4 In response to this treatise, Petitioner references not the treatise, but a statement by one of its 
co-editors, Patrick 1-1 . Martin, in a paper delivered to the Rocky Mountain Mineral Law Foundation. 
(Pet' r's Bf. 26.) Respondents agree with the first part of the quote - i.e., that pooling and unitization are 
generally favored . However, the lega l right to use land fo r those purposes must stil l be obtained from the 
lawful owner of those propert ies. More importan tly, the language of the treati se remains unchanged . 
And the only reason for the "dearth" of authori ty is because the circuit court 's analysis (and 
Respondents' position) on this issue is so obvious. Finally, not on ly is no case law c ited for the 
statement, but addi tional language from the paper may explain the dichotomy between Petitioner's 
interpretation of the quote and the express language of the treatise. Indeed , the presumed factual context 
is very different than the present case. Professor Martin queries: "May th e interest owner or hi s or her 
lessee also use the su rface for access to drilling operation on adjacent acreage when the land is included 
in the unit for wh ich the operat ions are bcing un dertaken?" Patrick H. Martin , State Conservation 
Regula/ioll and Overview oj Slandard Spacing and Pools , Rocky Mountain Mineral Law Foundat ion 
Special Institute on Horizonta l Oil and Gas Developmen t, 2-34 (2012) (emphasis added). In the first 
place, Professor Martin is talking about puning a road or pipcline across a surface tract to reach a drilling 
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Similarly, the author of another well-known treati se, Professor Kuntz, states: "If the title 

to all minera ls have been severed, the mineral owner is entitled to the use of the surface for the 

purpose of extracting minerals from such land. Such mineral owner should not have the 

right to use the surface for the other purposes, such as the purpose of removing minerals from 

another tract of land." I EUGENE K UNTZ, A TREATISE ON THE L A \V OF OIL AND GAS, § 12.8, at 

357 (1989). 

A third major general treatise on oil and gas law states: "[T]he dominant mineral estate 

servient surface estate relationship obligates the surface of a tract to accept the burden of surface 

access, installation and other use that is necessary to develop the tract' s underlying minerals, hilt 

110/ more." SUMMERS OIL AND GAS, § 56:9 (Nancy Saint-Paul, cd. , 3d ed. 2009). (Emphasis 

added.) 

Other authorities likewise art iculate the accepted princ iple. "l A Jbsent broader surface use 

provisions in the original severance instrument or effect ive pooling or unitization, surface use by 

the mineral owner in connection with the exploration of exploitation of minerals on other lands is 

beyond the scope of the minera l owner's ri ght of reasonable usc at the common law." Owen L. 

operation on another surface tract. A road or pipeline is less of an in trus ion on the surface tract being 
crossed than plac ing the "drilling operations" on the surface tract to drain alllhe minerallracts in a unit. 
Indeed, plac ing drilling operat ions for horizontal shale wells on a surface tract is a much greater 
imposition (as set forth in Respondents' initial memorandum below). (J.A. 70-74.) In the second place, 
the professor is talking about land that has been successfully placed in a unit. Here, the pooli ng 
amendment came too late to grant Petitioner the ri ght to use Respondents' surface to drill into 
neighboring tracts. 

Petitioner a lso ci tes a prese ntat ion by Bruce Kramer, the other co-editor of WI LLIAMS & MYERS. 
(Pet' r's Br. at 26.) Importantly, Respondents agree with the general princ ipl e stated in Mr. Kramer' s 
presentat ion: "Widely-acce pted general rule is that the implied casement of surface use does not extend 
to support activities benefining off-leasehold premises." (J.A. 208.) And yes, as pointed out by Mr. 
Kramer, this analysis ca n change "when e ither voluntary or compulsory pooling un itizat ion occ urs." 
(J .A. 209.) However, in the instant case ncither occurrcd. At present, there is 110 forced pooling for 
horizontal Marcellus Shale wells in West Virginia . 
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Anderson & Eugene Kuntz, Surface "Trespass ": A ~Man '5 Subsurface Is Not His Castle, 49 

Washburn L. Rev. 247, 264 (2010). 

Funher, an article that appeared in the Eastern Minera l Law Foundation (now the Energy 

and Mineral Law Foundation) followed suit. It was written by two lawyers: Rex Burford, who 

was Execut ive Director of the West Virginia Oil and Natural Gas Association from 1976 to 1991, 

and John Johnson, who was head of the West Virginia Office crOil and Gas from 1985 to 1989. 

They wrote: "[Clasc law holds generally that the surface of one tract may not be used for mineral 

product ion from an adjacent tract without permission of the surface owner," Rex Burford and 

John II. Johnston, Legal and Developmental Issues Involving Horizontal Drilling in the 

Appalachian Basin, EASTERN MINERAL LA W INSTITUTE 2 1 ( 1991) (footnote omined). 

Finally. a somewhat exhauslive examinat ion of the topic concludes: 

The mineral owner should not be permitted to use the surface that lies above his 
mineral tract to drill a horizontal well that crosses from the subjacent mineral tract 
into a neighboring mineral tract. While a surface owner has no choice but to 
allow a mineral owner 10 do what is necessary to reach the mineral directly below 
hi s surface, the mineral owner [sic, "surface owner"] should not be forced, 
without his consent or any additional compensation, to allow the surface owner 
(sic, "mineral owner"] to use his land in order to reach minerals that are not 
direct ly be low his surface. Consideri ng the substantially increased cost, time, 
manpower and surface area required to drill a horizonta l well, the surface owner 
should be able to prevent a natural !Zas producer from usin!! his land to drill a 
hori7.ontal well that is meant to retrieve !Zas at another location. 

Jason A. Proctor, Note, The Legaliry of Drilling Sideways: Horizontal Drilling and Its Future in 

West Virginia , 115 W. Va. L. Rev. 491 , 519 (2012). (Emphasis added.) 
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5. West Virginia and Other States' Mineral Law in the Coal Context 
Establishes the Principle tbat tbe Operator's Use of Overlying Surface 
Lands to Produce Minerals from Neigbboring Mineral Tracts [s a 
Trespass. 

As early as 1883, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia held that the right to 

use the surface of one tract to extract coal from a neighboring tract has to be specia lly stated in a 

conveyance - i.e., it is not implied. Findley v. Armstrong, 23 W. Va. 11 3 (1883). In Findley, a 

contract fo r sale of coal under a tract of land was signed that used the tenns "the coal and coal-

privileges." To carry out the contract, a deed had to be prepared by the buyer and signed by the 

seller. The buyer inserted a provision in the proposed deed that would have allowed the surface 

of the tract subject to the contract to be used for removing coal from neighboring "coterminous" 

coal tracts. The West Virginia Supreme Court held that inserting that provision in the deed went 

beyond the terms of the contract. The grant of the right to use the surface for production of 

neighboring mineral must be specifically stated. 

Similarly, in Arms/rong v MOIyland Coal Co. , 67 W. Va. 589, 69 S.E. 195 (1910), Ihe 

Court held that a purchaser, "may nol .. demand as minjng rights the right to remove over, 

through and under the lands in which the coal conveyed is situated coal thereafter acquired by the 

purchaser." Demonstrating the importance of1he issue, in Armstrong the other. objections by the 

vendee were deemed waived, but not the one at issue in the present casc. 

The Findley holding was again reaffirmed in Fisher v. West Virginia Coal & Transport 

Company, 137 W. Va. 613, 620, 73 S.E.2d 633 , 638 (1952). The Fisher Court ciled nol only 

Findley, but also numerous secondary authorit ies:

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